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THE LONG MARCH INTO OBLIVION
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An American Machiavellian Tragedy and a U.S. Government Disgrace
The Federal Government is guilty of 66 years of humiliation to the former U.S. POW's serving in the Asian Theatre during World War II.
Throughout this story of tragedy and humiliation runs the thread of a beautiful and miraculous love story.
In Memory of the Valiant United States Armed Forces, Far East. Dedicated to the men who couldn't tell their stories and no longer can.
At nineteen I met the love of my life. I lost her. I went to war. I lived through Hell with my buddies during WWII as a Japanese prisoner of war.
I came home overwhelmed to find that God answered prayers that I made when I was a prisoner in the Dungeons of ancient Fort Santiago. God saved my sweetheart for me to hold in my arms once more. We were married on Christmas Day, 1945.
My story also describes how my buddies and I were abandoned by President Roosevelt, suffered brutality and murder under the Japanese military. We did receive some mercy from some Japanese military bur more so from Japanese civilians at the risk of their lives.
The War Story
The U.S. government abandoned American fighting forces in the Far East at the beginning of World War II. This betrayal began in secret in December 1941 when President Franklin D. Roosevelt and Prime Minister Winston Churchill decided to desert their Far East Forces, concentrating their efforts on Hitler in Europe.
As the Pacific war began, the U.S. military forces courageously held General Yamashita and Homma at bay. Like the men of Valley Forge, the men of Wake Island, Bataan Peninsula and Corregidor Island fought under the most desperate conditions. They fought long enough to give General MacArthur the time to amass supplies and manpower to defend Australia. The loss of Australia for the Allies would have been a major disaster.
The unsuccessful attempt to conquer Australia enraged Tojo, the "Razor," Premier of Japan. He caused the murder of 37% of the American POWs in East Asia, compared with 1% under the Germans in Europe.
At the end of the war, while being repatriated, the POW survivors continued to be humiliated at the hands of their own. The American military officers forced the returning POWs to sign papers preventing them from ever revealing their stories. Welcome home POWs!
The Machiavellian tragedy began in 1951. The U.S. government agreed to compensate their POWs for the mistreatment they received under the Japanese. The 16,000 POWs are now less than 1,000 and are still waiting for the promises that were never kept.
In 1951, the POWs were sacrificed during negotiations of the Japanese Treaty at the end of the War. The Allies waived Japan's responsibility to compensate the POWs in the interest of not breaking Japan's economy. At those negotiations, in lieu of Japanese compensation, the Allies made a promise that they would compensate their ex-POWs. Senator Henry Cabot Lodge, a member of the negotiations, declared, "America will take care of its own."
All of the Allies, with the exception of the United States, kept that promise. England said, "We did it as a matter of Honor." In May 2006, South Korea compensated the forces who had been enslaved in Japan's wartime industry. In May 2007, the House of Representatives passed a bill to compensate the people of Guam for the treatment they received under the Japanese.
The question to be answered after fifty-six years of waiting for the U.S. Congress and the Executive Office to honor Henry Cabot Lodge's declaration, will it ever happen? If not, then the surviving POWs and their widows, unrewarded and in humiliation, must continue the "Long March Into Oblivion" until they are all dead.
Now, Back To The Beginning Of My Story
Hi! Hi! My name is Donald Douglas Rutter. I was a radioman in the United States Navy when I surrendered to the Japanese military in Manila, Philippines. From January 3, 1942 to September 8, 1945 I was a slave of Hiro Hito, the Emperor of Japan.
But I am ahead of my story. I would like to begin with my childhood as a barefoot country boy with cheeks of tan.
At the age of eight my divorced mother and younger sister moved from the East side of Detroit to a small farming village on the shore of a lake. We lived in Michigan Center, southeast of Jackson for four years.
With the help of a kind retired man, by the age of ten, I was already an excellent fisherman with hook, bobber, sinker and bamboo pole. During the winters I fished through the ice. Most of the meat on our table was the fish I caught.
From age twelve to fifteen, besides fishing, I picked strawberries and tomatoes for three cents a quart for local farmers. In the winter, I made money trapping mink, skunk and muskrat. Now and then, I didn't go to school for a week until Mom could wash away skunk perfume with the aid of Fels Napha.
[image: The Woodsmen, Buddy & Don (on right) - 1937]In 1933 we moved to Jackson and like many impressionable teenagers, I got mixed up with the wrong kind of guy. In 1934, at the age of 15, we took someone's car for a joy ride. The police called it stealing a car. Fortunately for me, my mother sang in the choir of the First Baptist Church with the juvenile judge and the juvenile probation officer.
At sixteen, I and that same guy ran away from home and ended up in the Grand Island, Nebraska county jail for twenty-seven days for vagrancy. While there, I never ate so well in my life. From Nebraska, I came back forlorn to live with my father and stepmother in Lansing, Michigan. That wonderful woman, my stepmother, brought me in and was able to change the course of my life. For her loving care, I am eternally grateful. As for that guy I ran away with, the last I heard about him he'd gone to prison.

The Woodsmen: Buddy & Don (on right) - 1937

In 1937, I quit school in the eleventh grade and joined the United States Civilian Conservation Corps, a federal program designed to give work to young men and WWI veterans during the Great Depression. I was in the CCC's for two years. There were 200 men in a camp. They lived in tarpaper-covered wooden barracks. Army officers were in charge of camp regulations. The Army also provided food, clothing, medical care, recreation and pay of $30.00 a month. Of this, $25.00 was sent to help the enrollee's folks. The enrollee got to spend the remaining $5.00.
[image: CCC Camp Raco #667 - 1937]Most CCC camps were in the National Forests. The US Forest Service provided the work for the men, consisting of planting trees, fighting forest fires, building fire trails, constructing roadside rest areas as well as work in fish hatcheries, animal research, dam building, and bridge building.
CCC Camp Raco #667 - 1937
In September, 1937 I was sent to CCC Camp Raco #667 located on the south shore of Lake Superior in the Hiawatha National Forest of Michigan's Upper Peninsula. The camp was 25 miles from Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan. The land surrounding Lake Superior was the hunting ground of the mighty Chippewa Indian Nation, the subject of Longfellow's fabled Hiawatha, the land of the sky blue water. This land has made a strong impact on my life.
In January 1938 I was transferred to Fort Brady in Sault Ste. Marie, the headquarters for the 60 CCC camps in the Upper Peninsula. There I became a chauffeur for the government officials.
In May 1938 I drove to Camp Escanaba, close to the little town of Gwinn, Michigan. Here I met the love of my life, a kindergarten teacher named Elaine Marie "Dolly" Aho. We fell deeply in love at first sight. The first evening we went dancing, and she fell into my arms.
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Elaine Marie "Dolly" Aho, a Kindergarten Teacher, Gwin, MI - 1938
[image: Don, now an official car driver - 1938]At the end of the evening we stood by a wrought iron gate connected to a fence surrounding the front yard where she stayed. A full moon made it daylight. Oh, God. It was just like in the movies. I placed my arms around her waist to start telling her how I felt about her and she started to cry. In an instant her face fell on my chest. Now she was sobbing, "You made me love you. Now you're going to leave me and I will never see you again." While she was sobbing against me, I stood there in shock. For the first time in my life I was holding a beautiful woman in my arms who was crying over me. No one ever cried over me ... No one. I felt totally out of my element. For the moment, I was paralyzed. Finally, I came to my senses and, I took her face in my hands and bent her head backwards until we were face to face. Then, I kissed her eyes. I kissed her tear-stained cheeks and her mouth that was wet with tears. I kept kissing her ... and kissing her ... and kissing her. After a while she wilted into me with a sigh. I said, "I'm so in love with you, I don't know if I have the strength to leave your side to go on to do what I must do. This, I swear to you. The only thing that will stop me from returning to your arms is because somehow I've died." As I gently and reluctantly began to separate myself from her arms more of her tears began as she pleaded, "Oh, Donald if you truly love me then you must come back to me." Once more, I kissed away her tears while begging her to trust me. With the most wrenching feeling I had ever experienced in my guts, I walked backwards away from her saying, "I love you," over and over again. Something deep inside me whispered, "This woman is yours. She will be your soul mate even throughout eternity." But to marry her I had to get out of the CCC's and get a job.
In January 1939 I requested a transfer back to to Camp Raco. In August 1939, on a sunny Sunday afternoon, I stood on the beach of Lake Superior, the greatest single body of fresh water in the world. When her clear water turns dark gray she is the most treacherous of all waters. But that day her beautiful breast was calm. Her water was dressed in sky blue... She was gorgeous.
Suddenly an indescribable feeling flooded my body from head to toe. During that spell the scene surrounding me seemed to call out, "We are a Creation!" "If so," my mind answered," There must be a Creator!" I looked into the sky above and cried out, "God! If you're still there, will you please use me?"
By sight or sound there was no answer. The spell slowly faded away. I fought to prolong it, too no avail. When it was gone it left me shaken. With the hope that something might still happen, I lingered awhile longer. At last, with no further sign, I left, listening to the waves of "Gichee Goomee" caressing her shore and the sound of birds singing in Hiawatha's primeval forest.
As I walked away my mind was in turmoil. What had caused me to cry out to empty space? I never did anything like that before. But deep inside somehow I felt that someday I would learn my outburst had not been made in vain.
On September 1, 1939 my hitch was over. I left the CCC's with an Honorable Discharge and hitch-hiked back to my home in Lansing to find a job. I had served two years, a special experience in my life I knew I would always cherish. As I walked the Camp road to M-28, where I would begin hitch hiking my way to my father's house in Lansing, the reality of my new situation began to take hold. It was now causing butterflies buzzing around in my stomach.
I had no job and no car. The only money I had in the world was the thirty-dollar mustering out pay I just received. The only civilian cloths I owned were the suit, shirt, socks and shoes I was wearing. In the barracks bag I was carrying was the well-worn WWI army cloths I was issued when I joined the C.C.C's.
Comes the Sound of The Four Horseman
As we passed through Gaylord, Michigan, we heard on the car radio that the Germans had invaded Poland. With that act the seeds of WWII began to sprout. When I arrived home I went to my uncle who had been an artillery officer in WWI. I was concerned about the invasion and how it would affect me. I asked him, "What do I do now?" He told me we would be in this war and I had two choices: I could voluntarily join the service now and become a trained serviceman ready for battle. Or, I could wait to be drafted and end up as cannon fodder in some God forsaken spot.
Since I already had experience serving under Army command in the CCC's, I was a prime candidate for the service. All they needed to do was teach me how to use a bayonet to be ready for battle.
On March 20, 1940 I signed up with the Navy for 6 years and had to leave Elaine behind. I was eventually assigned to the USS Pope 225 Naval Destroyer in the Philippines. In April 1941, I was sent back to the radio school at Cavite Naval Yard for training to become a radioman.
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Don, a new recruit at Great Lakes Naval Training Station, March 1940

Right: Don is transferred to the Destroyer USS Pope 225, a "four piper", a part of the old Asianic Fleet in January 1941
..."WE ARE UNDER ATTACK... THIS IS NO DRILL!"
It was in Cavite, on December 7, 1941 that I heard the radio message from Pearl Harbor, "We are under attack. This is no drill." At that moment, my life, along with the rest of the world, was dramatically changed. 
The next day we received the message that the Marines were under attack on Wake Island.
[image: Dante's Inferno - the total destruction of Cavite Navy Yard by Japanese bombers in December 10, 1941]Right: "Dante's Inferno" - the total destruction of Cavite Navy Yard by Japanese bombers in December 10, 1941
Dante's Inferno
On December 10, at noon, 54 Japanese Betty bombers began bombing Cavite navy yard. The bombing lasted for 45 minutes. At the end of the assault, 1,600 Navy personnel, along with civilian staff, were killed or wounded. By 3 o'clock the fires and explosions of ammunition turned the Yard into a "Dante's Inferno." Admiral Rockwell ordered all hands to immediately abandon the yard. The loss of Cavite navy yard placed the Asiatic fleet in "harms way," without the possibility of resupply.
I was put aboard the PT boat #41 to replace the radioman killed in the bombing. Now loaded with every hand we could carry we passed by the eastern tip of Corregidor Island, which guards the entrance to Manila Bay, running to Marveles Bay, two miles across the channel from the fortress on Corregidor Island, thirty miles from Cavite.
There, I was replaced by a chief radioman who outranked me. I was sent back to Manila by road around the north end of the bay to be assigned to the Office of Naval Intelligence and Censorship, now located in the Yamashita National Bank.
I heard from the KGEI overseas broadcast from San Francisco that on the afternoon of December 7, 1941 America lay stunned over the horrible losses at Pearl Harbor. From Sitka, Alaska to San Diego, California in the West Coast, everyone was in a state of paranoia with the rumors of a Japanese invasion of the mainland.
The Deserted Allied Forces Begin the Battle With Japan
The Allied forces were spread thin across the Pacific. Americans were on the islands of Wake, Guam and the Philippines, with The American Lost Battalion in the East Indies. Canadians were at Hong Kong. Australians, British, and New Zealanders were in Singapore and on the Malayan peninsula. Also in the East Indies were the Dutch and the Javanese. The USAFFE and their allies didn't know that Roosevelt and Churchill had decided to abandon their Far East forces to concentrate on the war with Hitler. With no chance of resupply or reinforcements, the USAFFE and their Allies were doomed.
The world wondered how the Americans would stand up against the vaunted Japanese Samurai who already had conquered much of China and all of Manchuria.
The Long March Joins the Marines On The Isle Of Wake
On December 8, 1941, Wake Island radioed they were under attack by a Japanese Naval force. This was the first hand-to-hand battle in WWII.
After the war, I learned the results of that battle. The Japanese Imperial Naval force was comprised of 15 ships, including four heavy cruisers. Their combined firepower was thirty-six 9-inch naval guns. The Japanese Naval Landing Party (JNLP) was close to 10,000 men. Against the JNLP were 400 American Marines, with 6 land based 5-inch Naval guns.
On December 23rd, after 15 days of intense fighting, much of it hand to hand, the Marines were out of ammunition and overrun. As they were led away as POWS, the "Long March into Oblivion" began. They left less than 100 of their buddies buried in the sands of Wake Island. They also left 5,500 Japanese military buried in those same sands. They left nine of the enemy fleet on fire, sinking, or lying on the bottom of the Pacific Ocean.
After the war, Japanese Commander Masatake Okumiya admitted that it was the most humiliating defeat the Japanese Navy had ever suffered.
Preparing For Battle in The Philippines
On December 25, 1941 to save the city of Manila, MacArthur made it an Open City. An open city means it is free of all military personnel and equipment, leaving it undefended. At that moment all military changed into civilian clothes and continued transporting supplies to Corregidor and Bataan.
On Dec. 29, the Japanese stood at the southern gates of the city, unopposed. We were ordered to destroy everything we could, including all the communication equipment in the RCA overseas office, the major civilian radio communication office. Others blew up the oil supply depot in Pandacan in the Manila Port area. That same day all military persons in Manila were ordered back out to Bataan and Corregidor by any means possible.
We commandeered small private boats. In the darkness we found that the bay was being blockaded by Japanese small boats with running lights. Unseen, we returned to Manila and in the morning we went to the U.S. High Commissioner's office. There we were given phony passports. At that time, the Japanese encircled the city but for some reason held off from entering the city.
On January 1, 1942, I was in a naval reserve officer's apartment across the street from the High Commissioner's office. He had destroyed his navy gear, using his business suit as his cover. I stayed up half the night trying to determine whether to hide behind my passport or surrender to the enemy.
In the morning I looked out the window in time to watch Japanese Army personnel lower the American flag and throw it on the ground. In its place they raised the Japanese flag. I will remember for the rest of my life that sickening moment.
All I had was the clothes on my back and no place to hide. If someone turned me in I would be shot as a spy. If someone tried to hide me and we were found, we would both be shot.
Goodbye To Freedom And All It's Charms
Finally, I realized I had but one way to fly... turn myself in. I destroyed the phony passport. I said goodbye as I left the apartment and crossed the street to what had been the high commissioner's office. I spotted the Japanese official running the show. I gave him my name, rank and serial number.
He asked in perfect English, "Why are you dressed in civilian clothes?" I said, "Do you see the column of smoke rising in the southwest direction? All I had went up in smoke right there."
He asked, "Do you have any American cigarettes?" "Yes," I answered, and we traded cigarettes. He told me he was busy and directed me to sit in the shade of the truck. (I thought, "I am now a prisoner of war, I'm a man without a country... welcome to the rest of WWII.")
Finally he came back to me and apologetically said there was a problem because they had no military prison camps. Being somewhat polite, he asked if I would mind going into a civilian internment camp they were setting up at Santa Tomas University, established by the Dominican Order sometime in 1600. Of course I agreed.
I'm A Captive in a School
The next day, January 3rd, 1942, I was taken to the Japanese Commandant officer at Santo Tomas. He spoke with a perfect English accent. He told me to follow the rules he had placed for everyone to see and to conduct myself as a gentleman at all times. Do that and everything would be "tophole." He added, please report to me once a week and he gave me my room assignment.
As I headed to my room my thoughts were in turmoil. I was out of my element. I had lost my ship. I was surrounded by civilians and their culture. Although I was a victim of circumstance beyond my control, I had a slight guilty feeling.
Most of all was the haunting knowledge that I was no longer the master of my fate. I had to learn how to stay alive as a POW. For the rest of my time in Santo Tomas I did everything I could to help ease the burden of the internees. I expanded the plumbing beyond two bathrooms to accommodate the enormous addition of people interned there. Then I rigged music equipment and got professional music shows going with American show people captured in Manila.
News about the war came through unusual avenues. Passes were issued to internees to go to the Philippine General Hospital for treatment. There they picked up news from the Filipinos in the hospital and brought the news back to Santo Tomas. Later, a small radio was smuggled into Santo Tomas.
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Don (no shirt) US Navy Age 23.
Santo Tomas University Internment Camp - June 1942.
A short wave radio is hidden in the circuits of the turn-table.
Only a very few were trusted to know it existed. People believed the news still came from the outside. With that radio we were able to get what news was coming out of the fighting on Bataan and Corregidor.
Later in the fall of 1942 a very efficient underground was operating throughout the Philippines. The main couriers were the missionary Dominican Fathers from Spain. Spain was neutral. Ergo, the Fathers were able to go anywhere to minister to Catholics. This included Santo Tomas and most of the POW camps. It was amazing what was hidden underneath a Dominican Father's garments. They were men of the highest courage. Many died in trying to help others.

The Long March Joins The Navy At Balipapen Bay
In January 1942, we heard through the underground about a naval battle fought in Borneo. After the war I learned what happened there. In the dark of 3 a.m., four little American destroyers, a part of the old Asiatic fleet sneaked into Balikpapan Bay in Borneo to make mischief.
The ships, built during WWI, were identical and known as "Sister" ships. Because of little or no armor, they were also known as "Tin cans." The trade off for the weight of armor was the ability to carry heavier more powerful engines. Their best defense was their maneuverability at high speeds. They carried 12 torpedo tubes and four 4-inch Naval rifle deck guns. The names of the sisters were the USS John D. Ford, the USS John Paul Jones, the USS Parrot and the USS Pope.
Also in the bay were twenty five to thirty Japanese transport ships at anchor. These ships carried thousands of Japanese troops and materials needed to invade Borneo's western shore. There also was a Japanese light cruiser, the Nara Maru, which carried nine 8-inch naval guns and six 5-inch guns. But the little sisters had an edge ... they could outrun her.
Fifteen modern Japanese destroyers, twice as large as the sisters, also were in the Bay. Their speeds were close to the speed of the tin cans but they needed twice the depth of water to float. The little sisters drew so little water they could run across a wet handkerchief. This gave them all kinds of advantages.
As the suicidal little sisters stole into the middle of the transports, their torpedo tubes were at the ready. There was enough light to make out the silhouette of the big ship against the night sky. Soon the sky became brighter as the victims of the savage little sisters began exploding and raging with fire.
Evidently the Japanese cruiser and her destroyers thought a submarine was firing at them, so off they went, the wrong way, looking for a submarine that wasn't there. Meanwhile, the sisters kept up their attack. When their torpedoes were expended, they unleashed their deck guns. Now the Japanese transports awoke to the fact that they were being attacked by surface ships, and started firing at the flash of the exposed little sisters' guns.
When practically out of ammunition, and with the looming threat of an angry Japanese cruiser and her 15 killer bees, American Commander Talbot ordered the concerned little sisters to pick up their skirts and run for their lives. At dawn, all hands looked to their sterns. The horizon was clear. The little sisters had gotten away clean.
As the one-sided battle raged, a Dutch submarine, lying-to at periscope depth, watched the show while waiting for its next victim. Its skipper reported the Americans had just left thirteen Japanese ships in fiery shambles. Meanwhile the Japanese cruiser made the fatal mistake of coming into the range of the submarine. The Dutchman fired her torpedoes and blew the cruiser all to Hell.
The proud sisters had outwitted a superior enemy force, becoming one of the U.S. Navy's greatest victories. All this happened in just one hour.
The Little Allied Fleets Sail Into Oblivion
Another battle followed sadly, the Allied Naval forces had no aircraft carrier. They were no match for the huge 18-inch naval rifles of the giant 35,000 ton Japanese "Kongo" type battle ships. The USS Houston, a heavy cruiser with her nine 8 -inch guns, was the largest ship of the little fleets. Like the Bismarck, she accounted for herself before she died. Ringed by Japanese ships, some on fire, some sinking because of her, the Houston was exploding, on fire and sinking. As she slipped, stern first, to her grave below, her forward turrets were still firing.
A Japanese ship picked up the survivors from the Houston. They were lined up on the foredeck of the Japanese ship so that the Admiral could personally salute each survivor, stating if this is the way the U.S. Naval forces fight, it is going to be a very long war.
A handful of ships got away. All too soon the majority of the courageous little Allied Naval fleets also lay on the bottom of the South China Sea. Now the chance for resupply or reinforcement was lost. As went the little allied fleet, so went the little sisters.
Our secret news source still gave sketchy details of what was happening on Bataan and Corregidor. I learned the rest of the story at another camp I was transferred to later.
By the end of March 1942 the only Allied forces in the Far East still in battle with the Japanese were the American and Filipino forces on Bataan Peninsula and the Island fortress of Corregidor. Both are at the mouth of Manila Bay on the Island of Luzon in the Philippines.
The Long March Joins Those Of Bataan And Corregidor
The Long March at this time joined the valiant men and women trapped on Bataan Peninsula. They would sing a song, "Oh, we're the Battling Bastards of Bataan, no poppa, no mama, no Uncle Sam, and nobody gives a damn!"
By the end of February 1942, General Yamashita, the "Tiger of Malaya," had raced down through the Malay Peninsula conquering everything in his way to silence the guns of Singapore forever. With that accomplishment, he began preparing his forces to invade and conquer Australia.
At that moment Australia was a sitting duck. Germany's General Rommel, the Desert Fox, had pinned down Australia's army in Africa. The remainder of the Aussies' overseas armies were either killed or captured by the "Tiger" as he over-ran the Malayan Peninsula.
Sixteen hundred miles northeast of Singapore, the raging battle for the Philippines held sway. That battle would soon thwart The Tiger's plans. The battle was between the Japanese invader General Homma and General "Mac" MacArthur, the defender of the Philippines.
Two factors were in Homma's favor. His troops numbered around forty thousand men and they were battle tested through years of fighting General Chang Kai Chek in China. Mac's Army was the combined forces of the American 31st Infantry, the Filipino Scouts (the main army of the Philippines), partly trained Filipino Army conscripts dragged out of boot camps at the last desperate moment, and American Army Air Force personnel who were trained to fight ... but only in the air.
Corregidor, guarding the entrance to Manila Bay, was defended by the Fourth Marines, the Army Coast Defense, and Naval forces (some off sunken ships) who were trained to fight... but only at sea.
As the battle on Bataan raged, Mac's forces fought the enemy with the voice of Washington ringing in their ears, "Help is on the way!" These courageous troops had no reserves. They fought with their backs to the South China Sea. They had no boats. Retreat was impossible.
Still the doomed American and Filipino forces refused to lay down their arms. They upset all the timetables that Japan's Premier Heideke Tojo, the "Razor," set for their annihilation. This fact embarrassed both Tokyo and Washington, who for different reasons wanted to end the battle for the Philippines.
For Tojo, the longer Bataan and Corregidor fought on, the more they gained sympathy and respect from the World, to Tojo's embarrassment. For Roosevelt, the longer Bataan and Corregidor fought on, the more the American people screamed for the relief of the gallant USAFFE.
There was a joker in the deck that favored Mac's men who had become acclimated to the curses of the tropics. Homma came out of the north directly into the malaria and dysentery infected tropical jungle. These infections decimated over 10,000 of Homma's men and put them out of action. It weakened the Japanese forces to a point that the American and Filipino forces were holding their own.
The Razor, now faced with an American and Filipino threat to the middle of his supply line and Homma's incessant call for reinforcements, was forced to order half of The Tiger's forces to aid Homma in crushing Mac's men. This action forced The Tiger to delay his plan to attack Australia.
FDR ordered MacArthur to Australia. Mac didn't want to abandon his men on Corregidor. Mac begged to take General "Skinny" Wainwright with him. FDR refused. It was a terrible mistake. Skinny's knowledge of the Asian mind was the best in the American Army. He cut his teeth in battle as a young officer in the Chinese Boxer Rebellion. For Mac, the loss of Skinny's help in Australia in forming battle plans had to be monumental.
Now outnumbered and without the promised help, the fate of Mac's men was sealed. On April 9,1942, out of ammunition, suffering from starvation, their ranks riddled by dead and wounded, the valiant forces on Bataan collapsed and became POWs. As they lay exhausted, they were unaware that in defeat they had won a tremendous victory. Yes, they had lasted long enough to slam the door to Australia.
The courageous men on Corregidor fought on, still holding The Tiger at bay. On May 5, 1942, their ammunition was spent. Now the guns of mighty Corregidor lay silent. The starving fighters on Corregidor went the way of those captured on Bataan. However in defeat, the men on Corregidor placed a lock on Australia's door. They gave Mac an extra precious month, time enough for him to organize the defense of Australia.
Skinny's genius, and his men's admiration for him, carried those of Bataan and Corregidor beyond the call of duty. Their actions prevented Yamashita and his troops from getting back to Singapore and changed the course of the war.
Later, military historians agreed that the sacrifice made by those of the Valiant USAFFE shortened the Pacific War by at least six months. More than 60,000 additional casualties were avoided and the cost of the Pacific war was spared many billions of dollars.
Without Australia it would have been a logistical horror. Men and equipment would have been shuttled from tiny island to tiny island, across the wide Pacific Ocean, greatly exposing the American supply line to the enemy. Instead, Australia became the funnel that successfully supplied the Allied forces to retake the Philippines at a great saving in lives and in money.
The Long March Joins The Death March Out Of Bataan
Now that Australia, the Grand Prize, was denied him, the Razor, in maniacal rage, denied the Allied POWs the Rights of the Geneva Conference for proper treatment of POWs. Instead he branded them captive criminals and sentenced them to life imprisonment at hard labor. At this point the Long March and the Death March would became one.
For the Battling Bastards, now POWs, Tojo's Sentence began with a vengeance as a soldier, starved and sick with malaria, stumbled and fell on the road that leads out of the Bataan Peninsula to Camp O'Donnel 90 kilometers away.
Before he could get up, five Japanese tanks rolled over the stricken man. As the last tank rolled away all that was left was a dark stained muddy blot on a dirt road. Emaciated men, their gaunt faces filled with horror, were forced by beatings to walk over that dark muddy spot. Thus began the Death March out of Bataan.
A man, crazed with thirst and intense heat, broke ranks to drink from a stream without permission. He was thrown into a cesspool. He raised his arm, as a call for help. A Japanese officer stepped up and severed the helpless man's arm with one cut of his sword. Fifty prisoners, thinking they had the right to drink, were machine-gunned to death as they ran for the water.
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The faces of the Bataan "Death March" - April 1942
Left to Right:

	PFC Sam Stenzler
	   
	PFC Frank Spear
	   
	Capt. James Gallagher

	31st INF, died in Camp O'Donnell on 5-26-42
	   
	31st INF (4th Chemical also) died on 7-18-43. in Fukuoko, Japan. After Abucay, the 31st INF was reinforced with members of the 4th and 7th Chemical. Chemical units are given Infantry training, so they were already infantry trained.
	   
	31st INF died 4-09-42. Gallagher was killed soon after that picture was taken. 


Periodically along the 90-kilometer road to Camp O'Donnell, prisoners would fall down, too exhausted to walk on. As they lay, they were bayoneted to death, to keep them from trying to run away. Many prisoners died trying to save another prisoner.
All along the road, brave Filipino men and women, especially the women, rushed out to give food and water to the desperate men staggering by, only to be shot or bayoneted to death for their Christian charity.
Please forgive me. I'm an old man now. My mind cannot handle all the horror that happened to those on that road to Hell. When the POWs reached Camp O'Donnel their numbers had been brutally reduced by nearly 12,000 of their buddies who had been murdered along the way.
At O'Donnel the Death March ended and the Filipinos were freed to return to their homes. Now the Long March moved in with the American POWs at Camp O'Donnel. In the next two weeks, 2,100 more POWs, denied enough food and medicine, died of starvation and disease.
The Long March then moved on to POW camp Cabanatuan #1, and 2,500 more POWs eventually died under the same conditions. There was no reason for them to die; food and medicine were just outside their prison gates. By summer 1942 the prisoners weighed an average of 70 to over a 100 pounds. As they died their naked starved bodies were buried, 90 bodies in a single pit, each day. Prisoners were beaten to death, for no legitimate reason, as they were used illegally as slave labor on Japanese military projects all over the Philippines.
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God Greets Me in Hell University
POWs were thrown into "Hell University," the dungeons of ancient Fort Santiago. The Spanish Conquistadors had completed the fortress in 1561 and the name Fort Santiago spread terror among the Filipino people. Local leaders of revolts were thrown into the Fort's dungeons, never to be seen again. In 1898, the United States captured the fort and turned it into a tourist attraction.
In January 1942, the Kempe Tai, Emperor Hirohito's personal army, captured the Fort and returned it to its former use. Many thousands were put to death there. In February 1945, the liberating Americans found that the Japanese Kempe Tai had packed the Filipinos into the cells so tight that over two thousand had died of suffocation.
It was not uncommon for the ungodly Kempe Tai to release a prisoner who they felt was not giving them all the information they wanted.
After a certain time, the Kempe Tai would grab their victim and throw him back into the dungeons again. This time they would threaten the victim with ten times the suffering he had suffered before. As most everyone has a breaking point, that moment would happen ... how exquisite the tactics of the Kempe Tai.
On January 12, 1943, the Kempe Tai entered Santo Tomas to remove all known military in the camp. There were about 25 or 26 men representing all the American military. Of course I was one of them.
From there we were thrown into the dreaded dungeons of ancient Fort Santiago. After seventy-eight days of interrogation, brutality and starvation, I was told by a Kempe Tai guard that I was to be executed in two days for crimes committed against the Japanese government.
As I sat in my cell, I became terror stricken. I was a rat in a trap. I had no way to escape or hide. I had just turned twenty-four years old on February 23rd. In desperation I called out, "Oh dear God in heaven, if you are still there, will you please give me the courage to face death?"
Instantly, loud and clear, a voice in my head said, "Now that you have prayed to me to be able to face death, did you ever think about praying to me to stay alive?"
Stunned, I began to pray again, "Dear Father in heaven, may I escape death in this hole in Hell? Father, can I still be alive at the end of this war? Father, can I go home and find Elaine Marie still there for me? Father, can we have a child? Father, can I live long enough to hold the child of my child?"
Two days later, I stood before a Kempe Tai officer and he said to me, "Your execution for espionage against the Japanese Government..." (When he hesitated for a moment to clear his throat, GOD disappeared and the knots in my stomach came back so strong the pain nearly doubled me over.) Then he continued, "...has been changed to life imprisonment at hard labor."
GOD reappeared. The knots in my stomach turned to butterflies. I became overwhelmed with elation that he wasn't going to kill me. I thought to myself, "Oh thank you, Almighty God, how great you are!"
Roy Bennet was in the Dungeons. He had been the editor of the English language newspaper called the Manila Bulletin. He was captured by the Japanese and told that if he would continue on as the editor he could come and go in Manila. Roy refused the offer and was promptly put in the Dungeons. For their sake the Japanese made a bad decision. Because the Filipino people saw a white man refuse to cooperate and take a stand against the Japanese, he was immediately jailed. The Filipinos marveled and were so impressed by the courage of Roy Bennet to act for their benefit that the Filipino people formed a large resistance force. The Filipinos resisted everything the Japanese wanted them to do in honor of Roy Bennet.
I met this man in the dungeon. After fighting broke out in a cell, a guard dragged a very small, frail piece of humanity to my cell and let him sink to the floor like an empty potato sack semi-conscious and covered with boils and open sores, sickening. My instructions were to take care of him. I gathered he was 45 to 50 years old. "Guard, guard!" I yelled. Instead of beating me for making so much noise and demanding a razor blade, bandages and iodine, they brought them, and two mattresses.
Roy and I talked a great deal and we got away with it in the "hospital" cell. Roy talked of the higher things in life, of freedom, national honor, the reason for the war, and things a typical sailor doesn't dwell on. He told me that he had been in Fort Santiago many, many months and didn't know if his wife and daughter were dead or alive. He said the Japanese kept him locked up because he refused to operate his newspaper under their censorship.
The Japanese weren't having much success winning over the citizens of the Philippines. Bennet's newspaper was important to them and he refused to bow to their demand to run it their way. He was a tiny man even before the Japanese threw him in the prison. He had been crippled by a childhood disease, probably polio, which left him with a severe limp and one arm lame. Although he was child-like physically, he was a giant of a man intellectually and a believer same as I.
In less than a week, all of a sudden they brought clean clothes, towels, and soap and took us to running water. I gave him a bath, and one for myself. I put on clean bandages, cut his beard (a foot long), shaved him, and trimmed his hair. He told that the clothes brought by his wife. I told him, "They are going to move you out of here." We were both exhilarated, getting ready to get out. He went back to Santo Tomas to his family, which took some of the heat off the Japanese. The Filipinos had won. He had a code of honor. I absorbed many things from him, the greatest man I ever met. I became a different person. I was so pleased that God allowed me to help Roy Bennet.
The First Miracle Walks With Me Into Old Bilibid Prison
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Liberated American POWs from Bilibid
(February 1945). This is the way Don looked
at 72lbs in Fort Santiago, March 1943


The first miracle was granted when I joined The Long March as I entered Old Bilibid Prison in April,1943. While in the Navy my normal weight was 190 lbs. Then, going into what was nicknamed "Hell University," my weight dropped to 140 lbs. But now, locked in Manila's Old Bilibid Prison, the scales read 72 lbs. For the rest of the war, I walked around looking behind me, to make sure no Kempe Tai was following me.
[image: http://www.cnac.org/emilscott/pic22.jpg]Cabanatuan POW Camp #1 - 1943
From old Bilibid prison I was crowded into train boxcars and transported to the town of Cabanatuan, 90 kilometers north of Manila . We were packed so tight that when a man fainted from the intense heat inside the boxcar, it was almost impossible for him to fall down.
From Cabanatuan we walked the few miles to POW prison camp, Cabanatuan #1. I went into the Navy and Marine section of the camp. From barrack #4 I ended up in barrack. #6. We were put into 10 men groups to keep us from trying to escape. If you were lucky enough to escape, the other nine men would be immediately put to death. Needless to say no American would seek freedom under those conditions. Never the less two POWS escaped, causing the merciless deaths of eighteen of their buddies. I worked on a 300 acre farm that was hand worked by the POWS. We worked eight hours a day, five days a week. Due to a new more merciful Japanese Commandant the deaths dropped to a minimum. Because of the condition I was in when I came to Cabanatuan, had he not been there, I would not be writing this story.
	
	


He allowed the POWS to put on shows in our spare time. We even had a stage with lights and a enough musical instruments to supply a twelve piece band. Every Wednesday night the band played music. Every Saturday night it was show time, with the band supplying background music. We were blessed by the many talented guys the camp contained.
Because of the training I received from the Show Troop in Santa Tomas I was allowed to play a clown in many of Saturday night sketches. On Wednesday nights I sang with the band backing me up. The most fun was leading a quartet that sang like and as well as Tommy Dorsay's Pied Pipers. But most of all the warm feeling I would get when, once in a while, the men in my barracks would ask me to sing them to sleep.
The March Joins POWs Trapped In Hell Ships On The Sea
After the war, I learned that in the middle of 1942, the Long March moved to the high seas. Roughly 19,000 Allied POWs, captured in the Far East theater, started out for Japan in the holds of unmarked Japanese passenger and cargo ships. By the end of the war 11,000 of those POWs had died along the way. The POWs were packed, 600 men into a 50' x 50' ship's hold. They died of exposure, suffocation, thirst, starvation, strafing and bombing by Allied planes, or torpedoes from Allied submarines.
One Japanese ship, the Arisan Maru, carrying about 1,800 American men, was torpedoed by the American submarine USS Snook. The ship went down carrying almost all of the men to their death.
As the submarine moved in to look for survivors, the sub crew pulled five oil-soaked men aboard their submarine. The sub crew was horrified when they learned the men were American POWs. The unwitting monstrosity caused the captain to collapse and never command again.
The March Joins The Pows On The Mati Mati Maru
[image: The Mati Mati Maru translates as "Wait Wait Ship"]The Mati Mati Maru translates as "Wait Wait Ship"
In the last of June 1944 I was part of a five hundred man group that that was put together to be sent to only GOD knew where. We stood in boxcars again deployed to Manila and ended up in old Bilibid prison once more.
On July 1, 1944, one thousand American military POWs (including myself) were put on a Japanese freight ship moored in Manila Bay. The men were forced into two forward holds (500 per hold) at bayonet point. During the night the ship moved into the bay to anchor. The next morning I awoke with a headache, gasping for breath. I realized that the air in the hold was expanding quickly due to the heat of the sun hitting the ship, leaving no room for fresh air to enter the hold. It was only a matter of time before everyone suffocated.
With all the energy I could muster, I got up onto the deck of the ship. I can't explain what a relief it was to again breathe fresh air. I looked up at the bridge and, seeing people there, I started screaming my head off. Then a Japanese officer, with his pistol pointed at my head, ran towards me. I called, "Can you speak English?" He said, "Yes." I said, "If fresh air doesn't immediately reach all the men they will all die of suffocation." I told him to run his hand up and down in the doorway to feel the air escaping through the opening. Realizing what was happening, he asked me if I knew how to open the holds and I said yes.
So together we loosened enough canvas to triple the present doorway opening. The hot air from inside the hold rushed out. The stench was unbearable. The denser air outside was sucked down into the hold for circulation and relief. I was elated to find the operation worked. We ran to the other hold and repeated this task with the same results.
Now with light in the holds we could see the men and hear them groaning and starting to move. Many looked up and thanked us, some began crying, some saying , "Thank God." The emotion of that moment, of watching my buddies reviving, has remained with me all my life. The Japanese officer, standing by my side, said to me with a smile, "We were just in time."
I asked him if we could bring the American doctor up to check the men. The doctor told us that the men were suffering from severe dehydration and needed water. The Japanese began distributing the water to the men in the holds. I knew this would take some time and, feeling less apprehensive about the Japanese officer, I explained that Manila Bay was the natural habitat for the Great White Shark. I pointed out the jellyfish and also stingray in the water. I asked if he thought that any one in our condition would try to escape to swim to shore a mile away. He shook his head.
I had another plan. I asked him if he didn't think it would be best for these men, psychologically, to get up on deck, get fresh air and light as much as possible. He agreed. Feeling more confident, I asked him if we could bring up a 100 men at a time from each hold for an hour, rotate and replace them with another 100, giving each man at least two hours in the sunlight each day. He gave his permission.
Finishing his exams, the doctor said about 50 men needed more time on deck. I asked the officer to keep these men on deck at night for recuperation. So each night 91 of the POWs, 40 of the canvas holders, 50 of the patients, and myself overseeing, would be on deck. This gave badly needed space to the men below. This continued for 5 days, until we went to sea, on July 6th.
Because things ran without incident, the Japanese officer, with the ship now at sea, allowed open gangway. During the day about a third of the men were topside. During the night it was the canvas crew, the sick, and myself supervising on deck.
The trip from Manila to Moji Kyushu, Japan, our final destination, normally took an old freighter about nine or ten days. But because this ship constantly broke down, it had to put in to almost every port we passed and in the end, the journey took 57 days. The POWs nicknamed the ship, the "Mati Mati Maru," which meant "Wait! Wait! Ship."
This waiting turned out to be a blessing. Being unable to keep up with any convoy, a submarine's chosen target, the Mati Mati Maru could only stagger to Japan almost unnoticed. The Mati Mati Maru became known by all Japanese POWs as the Hell Ship that had a luxury cruise to Japan.
Even more, a torpedo struck the prison ship's side and did not explode, a miracle. On landing at Moji, we realized another miracle: only one man had died on the perilous trip to Japan. Yes! Even in Hell on Earth there can be miracles. 
POW Slaves Sabotage and Survive In Nippon
[image: http://www.cnac.org/emilscott/pic26.jpg]From Moji, Kushu Island, Japan, our port of entry. We traveled at night in train passenger cars with drawn curtains. At midnight we arrived at the city of Omuta, Fukuoka, Kushyu, Japan, situated on the east shore of Arike Bay, 22 miles South West of Nagasaki. We left the train and walked over a mile though the walled enclosure of POW Camp #17.
In the morning I was given a green suit made of burlap, a cloth cap with a half inch thick felt liner, and a mine lamp holder. We were told to put on the suit, and sit in a chair. We were given a white placard with black I.D. numbers. I was told, from thereon, my name was changed to E-Sen-Bi-Yahco-Ju 1310.
From there I was lead to barrack Nee-Ju- Nee (22). The rooms had straw mat floors. The comforter was filled with shredded paper. Our pillow was a hard block made of straw.
In the morning we walked one mile to the mine to begin learning how to be a coal miner. Down in the confusion of the mine, I thought to myself, "How the Hell will I keep myself right side up under these forbidding conditions." Somehow I did.
POWs were forced to work 12 hours a day in the mines, factories, steel mills and ship yards, with three days off a month. They immediately realized they were in a position to fight the enemy again, but in a different way.
The POWs found they could not be watched every minute, so they became Suicide Commandos, sabotaging everything possible without getting caught. To be caught meant instant death. The stories are legend of what the desperate POWs were able to do to hurt Japan's war effort.
Japan's largest coal mine was in the city of Omuta. The Prison Camp #17 held 1,000 Americans, plus a mixture of 700 Australian, English, Dutch and Japanese POWs. All Allied POWs worked in the same areas as the Japanese workers, working with Japanese foremen.
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The mine ran constantly. As the foremen left from time to time to perform other duties, the Americans were able to mix black rock with the coal, undetected. The coal was then fed into a huge crusher. Everyone knew the steel mill used this coal to heat the furnaces for making steel. The contaminated coal damaged grates, requiring replacement, which forced the mill to shut down for three days every month, giving the English POWs three days vacation.
The Japanese knew they had a language problem with all these nationalities. They knew most of the POWs had never seen a mine before, which could account for the coal and rock problem. The POWs knew this and it helped mask the risks they took. Their efforts probably reduced the steel mill production at least ten to fifteen percent.
In Japan, the Americans still suffered from the sickness and starvation of the Philippines. Now, in winter, in unheated barracks, they faced starvation and exposure to other life-threatening diseases. Yet, under these conditions, they were forced to slave in the mines and then die.
One thing became obvious: men who were disfigured by real mine accidents were excused to heal themselves in camp. Remember: The Razor was always screaming for more coal. Not only were the POWs under pressure, so were the Japanese miners. The Bontijos (mine foreman) kept yelling, "Hiyocko! Hiyocko!" (Faster! Faster!)
Birth of the Bone Crusher
Out of desperation and American ingenuity, an idea surfaced to protect their lives...at great risk. Hospital corpsman taught certain POWs how to safely break different bones without causing compound fractures that could tear the flesh and puncture the skin, resulting in blood poisoning. And so the Bone Crusher was born.
When a man was too sick with dysentery to slave on a killer detail, or go down into a condemned mine, he would make an appointment with his local friendly Bone Crusher. Others volunteered to help as needed in the fake accident. The coal mine really was dangerous. A year after the Americans left, 145 Japanese died in a mine collapse. Many Japanese were injured in the mine as well. This fact helped mask the fake accident problem. Many POWs had more than one accident during the two years they worked in the mine.
Breaking a POW's arm under the Bontijo's nose was not an accepted procedure. Planning an accident when they weren't sleeping or working might take a week. The POWs were dead serious about playing their part.
After the accident, the Bontijo beat the POW because Japan was desperate for workers, but now on bed rest, the prisoner's dysentery could be treated while the broken bone mended.
In June 1945 I had a bad case of dysentery. I knew the Japanese quack at the mine would only give a pass to a man, who, because of his physical condition, couldn't hold a shovel.
The American doctor told me I had to get out of the mine for him to heal me. He asked if there was a trained "Bone Crusher" close to me on my shift.
In the evening all involved gathered to plan the scene for what was to happen. I could have a broken collarbone, hand, arm, etc. I chose a broken foot. It was going to be done with a 40 lb. steel roller smashed on my foot placed on a log. I had to find a log to fit under my instep so that when the roller hit my foot it would not be a compound fracture. If that happened, I could die of blood poisoning. It was to take place as we were building ceiling support walls in the mine. The plan was that the wall would collapse and a large rock would land on my foot. The next day the accident took place as planned. I fell into a dead faint as the bar hit me. As I lay there they went to tell the Japanese foreman that there had been an accident. He'd crawled off to sleep and they looked for him. We were in cahoots with the forman to let him get naps because the foreman worked days in the mine and as fire warden at night. He was exhausted. We kept a look-out to make sure no Japanese could surprise us. As soon as he was asleep the accident took place. When he came up my foot swelled up to the size of a balloon. It was obvious to him that I couldn't work anymore so he kicked me and called me "Baka!" (stupid) and went back to sleep. Although I was in pain I was exhilarated because I knew now they could cure my dysentery, and I wouldn't die in the mine.
The Massacre On An Island Called Palawan
Toward the end of the war, the POWs were told if the enemy tried to invade Japan, they would be put to death, for two reasons. First, in a long siege Japan could no longer feed them, and second, Japan would not tie down soldiers guarding prisoners.
When the war was over, the POWs in Japan learned chilling news about the island of Palawan in the Philippines. As American forces landed on Palawan in February 1945, 150 POWs were beaten back into a crude hole, an above ground air raid shelter. The Japanese guards threw gasoline into the hole and ignited it.
As the men came running out, screaming in agony, their clothes and bodies on fire, the Japanese guards machine-gunned them to death. Several men in the very back made it to the jungle and to the Americans retaking the island, becoming witnesses to what happened. 
As far as I am concerned, a miracle happened. There was no invasion of Japan. The atom bombs exploded over Hiroshima and Nagasaki. The results of those bombs ended the war. While 94,000 Japanese were killed, the event saved the lives of over 165,000 Allied military and civilian prisoners held by the Japanese throughout the Far East. I was one of those.
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ends the war and saves my life
I had a ringside seat to witness the explosion of the A-bomb over Nagasaki. On mid-morning August 9, 1945, as I stood outside my barracks, I heard a plane fly over me, heading north. It flew so high I could hardly see it. Finally, by sight and sound, it disappeared but I continued to look in that direction. Suddenly the sound of an explosion and a bright flash of light caught my left ear and the corner of my left eye. I turned back to my left and looked slightly southwest over Arike Bay to see a large cloud rising rapidly in the sky over the mountain across the bay. It was over in the direction of Nagasaki. I couldn't see the city, as it is nestled in a valley between two mountains, about 22 miles away.
I stood there frozen at the overwhelming sight. While at the time I thought it was an ammunitions dump getting hit. It made me think of the explosion in Baffin Bay in Canada in WWI when an ammunition ship exploded and it killed everyone in a nine mile radius.
Now as I continued to stare watching the cloud rise higher than anything I'd ever seen, the cloud began to move in our direction due to the prevailing winds. Halfway out, the wind changed and moved the cloud 180 degrees back over Nagasaki and out into the China Sea. Later I learned it went 80,000 ft. into the air. For me this was another miracle. The turn of the cloud saved all the Japanese and American POWs in the city of Omuta from death by radiation.
President Truman was told by our military authorities that an invasion of Japan would create over a million American military casualties. The casualties for the Japanese could be two to three million people. Faced with these numbers and realizing the American people could never handle such a catastrophe, Truman chose the Atomic bomb to end WWII.

[image: Preparations for the hanging of Tojo, The Razor, Premier of Japan at Macarthurs Order]Preparations for the hanging of Tojo, The Razor, Premier of Japan -
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By the War's end, The Razor's sentence had sent fifty-five percent of the POWs from Bataan and Corregidor to their graves. The death rate of American military captured elsewhere by Japan was nearly 40%. The death rate of American military POWs captured by the Germans was 1%. The Germans, more or less, followed the rules of the Geneva Convention, at least for American POWs.
The overwhelming disparity of death rates between the German and Japanese POWs screams to high heaven about the difference in care. For not following the Geneva Convention's Rules for proper treatment of POWs, General MacArthur caused the "Razor" to be hung by the neck in Suguma prison.

[image: B-29 dropping food and supplies by parachute over POW camp Fukuoka #3, Tobata, Kyushu, Japan, September 13, 1945]In our prison camp the Japanese commander told us that the war was over. He and the guards immediately left. The U.S. marines in camp took over guarding the camp. The first taste of freedom was from a naval carrier plane flying over the camp with flaps and wheels down, going as slow as possible. They tossed something out of the plane, dropping like a brick. It turned out to be a copy of Life magazine tied to a wrench. This was our first touch with America. This began our transformation from POW to being a free man.

A&P And Kroger Parachute Groceries To Our Back Door
B-29 dropping food and supplies by parachute over POW camp Fukuoka #3, 
Tobata, Kyushu, Japan September 13, 1945




[image: A closer view, dropping food and supplies]A closer view dropping food and supplies.
We were told to put PW in large letters surrounded by a circle on the ground. We used lime. This was to be a target for the planes to deliver food and supplies by air to us. Two days later the largest plane we'd ever seen, a B-29, flew over and dropped food and medical supplies. On its tail was a huge letter A. 

Soon we had formed a phrase, "The A&P store has gone to war and delivered its groceries at our front door." The next day another B-29 dropped more supplies and on its tail was the letter K. The new phrase was, "The Kroger store has gone to war and delivered the groceries to our back door."
On Sept. 15, 1945 an American naval hospital ship arrived. Personnel came in and transferred the POWs to the ship to return to America. However I was not on that ship.
On September 6th, my buddy and I went to the train station in Omuta. From there we headed for Tokyo to welcome MacArthur on the 15th. We wanted to ask him where the hell he'd been? When we arrived in Moji, thousands of Japanese were trying to get through the tunnel to return to their homes. We ran into a Korean who had worked with us in the coal mine. He told us that he'd heard the Americans had landed in the direct opposite of where we were. They were in the south; we were in the north. We headed back from whence we came and continued on to Nagoya, Japan. From there we flew into Okinawa on September 8th.
Good Bye, Kempe Tai! Hi To The Gum Shoe Guy!
When the war was over, the newly freed POWs were stunned by the treatment they received by the repatriating American Military. The POWs were told they could not continue on their way home until they signed "certain papers." The papers forbid them, without government permission, to tell anyone what had happened to them while they were POWs. They could not even tell their families. The papers also stated if they disobeyed the governmental orders they would be punished. In disbelief and humiliation, they signed the papers.
In Japan, my liberation was a joy beyond measure. However, upon arriving on Okinawa, it was a different story. There, as I lay on a cot in a U.S. Army tent hospital, an MP with a 45-revolver at his side broke my reverie. He indicated I was to follow him, which I did. I started to talk, but he indicated no talking. He led me into a room with a guy sitting at a desk. He wore an officer's uniform with no insignia, indicating that he was an intelligence agent. I began to sweat. I thought, "Oh, my GOD! Why has he need of me?"
He told me to take a seat and speak only when spoken to, answer all questions honestly, and everything would go fine. Otherwise things could get downright nasty and in a hurry. He gave me a cigarette and lit it for me. Then he sat back in his chair and stared at me. This was different, I thought. Tanaka San had done the same thing for me. But to get my attention, Tanaka San was more to the point. He smashed the burning cigarette into my face.
The guy started by telling me all the things that I had told another interviewer the day before. When he finished, he looked at me for my admission. I nodded yes. Next, he repeated that I was a radioman at NPO at the Naval radio station at Cavite and my last duty station was assignment at the Office of Naval Intelligence and Censorship at the Yokohama Species Bank in Manila. He looked at me again. I nodded yes.
Now he asked me if I ever operated on a circuit at NPO. I told him I didn't operate on a circuit at NPO because I was just out of radio school and I was not fast enough. I was okay for inter-fleet traffic, which is thirty-five words a minute. The NPO fleet circuit traffic is fifty words a minute.
Then he asked me if I ever practiced sending on one of NPO's circuits? I told him the most stupid thing you could do is practice on a circuit at NPO. Interfering with naval business could get you a court martial, and in a hurry. Then he switched subjects to ask if I ever listened to traffic going to Pearl Harbor or Washington, D.C.
I thought to myself that I've got to give this guy something to get him off my back. I told him I did a couple of times just to hear what it was like to listen to real code being sent. Most of it was five-letter code groups. I could not understand what that was. At radio school we listened to closed circuit machine code. There was no static or fading in and out like real traffic being affected by atmospheric conditions. I told him the station didn't allow students to stay around long.
He looked at me with a scowl and asked if I didn't listen more than a couple of times. "Did you listen to plain language going to D.C. or Pearl?" I thought, "This guy has a fixation with D.C. and Pearl, what is he trying to get out of me?" I told him that stuff going to those places was too fast for me, and that I only listened to local traffic. He sat back in his chair, looking like he had no more places to go.
Thank God, I thought, he is never going to find out what I knew before the war started. As I started to relax, he picked up a sheet of paper and shoved it in my face. He told me to read what the paper said and then sign my name, rank and service number.
I read the letter. At the end, I was staggered. The letter had two paragraphs. The first paragraph read: "While you are in the Navy you must swear you will never talk about any former military matters. If you do, you will be given a general court martial. Your sentence will be the time you spend in a Naval prison."
The second paragraph read: "If you leave the Navy and you talk about former military information, you give the Navy the right to pick you up, sentence you, and then place you in a Naval prison."
The guy asked me if I understood what was in that letter. I told him I did. Then I asked him what would happen if I didn't sign the letter. He told me he would have the MP place me in the stockade and I would sit there and rot and not leave this island until I signed the letter. I signed the letter. Then he told me that if I minded my Ps and Qs for the rest of my life, I had nothing to fear. Talk, and you get to fear ten years in a Naval prison. He didn't offer me a copy of the letter and I didn't ask for one.
[image: Red Rogers and Don Rutter, Camp #13 POW buddies.]God! Talk about injustice. Two days before, I was under the boot of the dreaded Kempe Tai. Now I'm in dread of the boot of the American Gestapo. Later, I realized that officer had sealed my lips from ever testifying at the Pearl Harbor Investigation, which was yet to happen.
Don – right- In a bar in San Francisco where Don's weight is about 140 lbs. As a POW, Don's weight dropped to 72 lbs. in Fort Santiago. It rose to 120 lbs. in Cabanatuan and dropped to 81 lbs. in the Japanese coal mines.
From Okinawa I was flown to Manila. As we flew over the city I was in shock. I cried out, "Oh my GOD!" Manila, Senorita Manila, the "Pearl of the Orient" lay destroyed. "Oh my god Manila is dead," I cried out. Now one of the most beautiful cities in the world was gone. MacArthur had made her an open city to save her. All was for naught.
The most devastated city in WWII was not Hiroshima, nor Nagasaki, or Warsaw, it was Manila. Over a hundred thousand were killed and wounded inside of two weeks. In deep sadness I flew out Manila across the beautiful blue Pacific Ocean to Oakland CA on the largest sea plane in service in the world at that time. From there I rode a train to Chicago and then on into Lansing Michigan, my home.
The Third Miracle... Elaine Marie Is There For Me!
For me, because of more miracles than I could count, it was, "Home is the sailor. Home from the sea. Again safe in America, the Land of the Free."
On October 1, 1945, when I got off the train in Lansing, Michigan, I walked onto Michigan Avenue and looked at the state capital, overwhelmed that I was back home. The War was really over. I walked into the same grill that I visited when I left Lansing, at 2:00 a.m. in 1940. The same waitress who said goodbye to me in 1940 said hello to me.
I could not find my father's phone number and called my aunt. We cried and I took a cab to her house. The first thing we shared was our grief about my brother. He died in the war. My aunt said that I had to see my father. At one time he had a flag in his window for two dead sons in the War. And now I am alive.
When we arrived at my dad's house, it was full of people who came to see me. I was claustrophobic and I hollered, "Where is the bathroom?" "Right behind you." As I went through the door I noticed stuck in the woodwork a letter.
I immediately recognized the perfect Palmer-method writing of my school teacher. I pulled the envelope out and in the upper left corner it read, E. M. Aho, Appleline Street, Dearborn, Michigan. I turned and hollered at my dad, "My God, how did you get this letter?" He answered, "When Elaine came to Lansing to teach school, she was in a night club where I was and came to the counter when the announcer called out my name, Don Rutter. I told her that my son was a prisoner of war. Later your picture was in the newspaper, and another school teacher sent Elaine the clipping. Elaine sent this letter to me, your dad. She was so happy that you were alive, saying if he comes to Dearborn, she would be happy to say hello." I read that letter a thousand times and died a thousand times thinking that when I called, a little kid would answer and say, "Mommy, someone wants to talk to you," and then I would die.
Finally I called, expecting the worst. A voice I heard so long ago said, "Hello, who's this?" And I said, "It's me." She said, "I am so glad you are still alive," and now I lied to her. I said to her, "I'm coming to Detroit in about two weeks, on a Friday, to go for exams at the V.A. (The truth was that I figured it would be two weeks before my hair was long enough to comb.) Was she doing anything that night?" She said, "No." "Could I take you out for dinner and to a dance that night?" She said yes. I'm coming back to life now. I seized the opportunity to say to her, "As long as I am in Dearborn, could I have a date with you Saturday?" She said yes. Now I went for broke. I said as long as long as I am still there how about a date for Sunday? She said yes. I thanked her and said goodbye. I put the phone down and howled for joy!
Then the day came and, and I rolled along with Doris Day singing, "I'm Going to Take a Sentimental Journey." Finally I arrived in Dearborn and I was overwhelmed and hollered "God, what am I going to say?" The light turned green and I turned right. I saw the sign saying, "Say It With Flowers." I hollered, "Thank you, Father." At the flower shop there was a large container holding long-stemmed American Beauty Roses. I said, I will take them all. She said, "Boy, some girl is going to get a big surprise." With both hands I picked up the bundled six-dozen roses and marched out the door singing for joy, "I'm going to take a sentimental journey."
Late in the afternoon I drove to Elaine's school after the kids went home. I walked through the office door, moved the roses to the side to see where I was going, and found the secretary in shock. "You must be here to see Miss Aho." She got up and led me to Elaine's room and opened the door.
"Miss Aho, someone is here to see you." I stood there by the door and two soft warm female hands slipped over mine to take the roses, and I died. She lowered the roses and after seven long years I was looking at a face that was a little older and more beautiful, with the serenity of a woman who knows who she is. I half whispered, "Hi," and she said, "Hi."
Immediately we were shoved aside by six or seven other school teachers and the secretary rushing into the room. They took the roses out of Elaine's hands placing them on the little kindergarten table. She walked over to the table with them to admire the roses. Then I walked over and sat in one of the small chairs. All these young single women were bending over admiring the roses and here I was sitting admiring the long-stemmed legs of these women bending over the the long-stemmed roses.
We said goodbye, the teachers all hugging Elaine, but not me. Damn. We took her roses to her home and I waited while she changed, and then we took off for a bar that she knew.
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Elaine and I are engaged this evening October 15, 1945
We sat down at the bar and I chose six songs from the jute box, "Sentimental Journey", "It's a long, long time", "Till the End of Time", and, "There I've Said It Again", followed by "What's New", and the last was "Where are you?" The songs began and without a word we listened to the songs, me looking into the mirror across the bar with a look that asked, "Are you listening to the words?" as she stirred her drink.
We ended up in one of the most beautiful nightclubs in downtown Detroit, ordered dinner, and at 9:00 p.m. one of our songs began, "Until the end of time." I asked her to dance and was shaking so hard inside I was afraid Elaine would feel it. Her soft voluptuous body pressed against me, she leaned into me and placed her cheek against my chest, her perfumed hair in my face. As we stood there, again I died. In the middle of dancing, a male voice screamed out, "Kaotsky!" the Japanese word for "Attention!" The music stopped. Silence. I was in the middle of the most wonderful dream and I was waking up a prisoner of war. Again I heard "Kaotsky!" I turned and looked at a man in a sailor suit who had gained a 100 pounds since I saw him in 1944 in POW Cabanatuan Camp #1. I let go of Elaine. We ran to each other in a bear hug. At the POW camp we became buddies when we discovered we both were in love with school teachers.
Some men yelled, "What the Hell is going on?" I turned to a guy and told him our story. He said, "Oh my God. I'm going crazy seeing all uniforms and all the hugging and kissing going on in my place. I fought in WWI and when I came home I had a girl still waiting for me. And tonight she is sitting there all alone. Tell you what I am going to do. I'm going to walk out that door, and take that girl and start hugging and kissing her too. You can stay here as long as you want, and everything, all the food and drinks are on the house." My buddy's quiet girl blurted out, "Oh my God. All my life I wondered what would it be like to be part of a miracle. Now here the four of us are together. They came half way around the world to come back to us. And we were there to hold them in our arms again. Us from Cleveland on our honeymoon and you from Dearborn in the same Detroit nightclub. How in God's world could something like this happen without God. We have our miracles." And everyone cheered! Finally we walked out the door and parted, each couple to go their own way. "See you around!" And we took off for Dearborn.
[image: http://www.cnac.org/emilscott/pic39.jpg]We parked in front of her house under a dark street lamp. The moon was shining down on us. She sat in her corner and I sat in mine with my elbow resting on the steering wheel. I said to her, "Elaine, I have not changed. In fact looking at you now, I didn't realize how much more I could love you as I am loving you now. And if you can't once more tell me that you love me it's okay. I will open my door, then open your door and I will go with you to the door of your house and I won't try to hold you or kiss you. I will take you to the door as my mother taught me. I will just say thank you and say goodbye and I will never bother you again. Elaine, what do you say to those words?" She fell sobbing on my chest. "I never stopped loving you." I was thinking this is deja vu. After seven years it's happening all over again, her sobbing on my chest. And all the time, I was saying, "Thank you Father," overwhelmed with everything that happened the past seven years. Instantly, seven years of longing were gone.
The miracle of the fourth prayer is my first child, Suzanne Elaine Rutter is born in Lansing, Michigan 
on January 3, 1947 (I was lucky enough to have two more children, Roger and Jan).
Now as this was happening the third miracle was happening and I knew there was no way that I could run away from God. Otherwise how could I be standing there holding Elaine. I realized that He loves me. In spite of all my faults and actions, he gave me Elaine.
At 2pm Christmas day, 1945, as we held each other close, the pastor of the Swedish Lutheran church in Marquette, Michigan, pronounced us man and wife. Now the third request I had made in "Hell University" had been granted. With this fact before me I knew beyond any reasonable doubt, there existed an Intelligence beyond human understanding. He had interdicted my life. I had to accept that He loved me because of all I had been through and here I was standing holding her. Now for the rest of my life He would be mine and I would be His.
On January 3, 1947 the 4th miracle happened as Elaine gave birth to Suzanne Elaine Rutter in the Saint Lawrence Hospital in Lansing, Michigan. As soon as possible I held Suzy Q in my arms. Roger David Rutter was born in the same hospital. On September 9, 1950. Jan Elizabeth Rutter came on stage in the Kaiser Foundation Hospital, Sunset Boulevard, in Hollywood, California on January 21, 1954.
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In 1953 I was on Ralph Edward's "This Is Your Life" t.v. program, and afterwards the stage manager said that I was very photogenic. I carried myself through the show as a real professional. She asked, "Did you ever think about being in the movies? I can get you a screen test with my friend Jack Warner. I thought back to the Santa Tomas internment camp and Dave Harvey who was the first male entertainer in the Zeigfield Follies and gave Danny Kay his start in 1929. He told me that if I lived through the War to go to Jack Warner in Hollywood and mention his name and said that he was sure that with my training I would pass the screen test. Both of these people were telling me the same thing. When I talked about Dave Harvey in Manila in 1946 with Elaine and my step-mother who had been in show business, she asked me, "What did I want, applause or a family? You can't have both." I walked away from the chance at show business because of my love for Elaine and the chance of a family.
I went home after the Ralph Edwards program and Elaine was half asleep, and I knelt down beside her and said, "Elaine, the mail man has just knocked for the second time. I've just been offered another screen test at Warner Brothers. What do you think about that?" Elaine started to cry and said, "We three little children out here so far from my home, and I know what can happen to movie marriages. And knowing the history of the men in your family, I am so frightened." I kissed her and said, "Sleep well. I am not going to go for the screen test." I smiled to myself and thought, "Who in Hell is going to believe that I turned down a chance with Jack Warner twice."
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On July 25, 1965, some 22 years after "Hell University", the fifth miracle was granted as Suzy gave birth to Andrew Michael Gregg. After 22 years this miracle completed the five miracles I prayed for in Fort Santiago. The next grandchild was Martina followed by Jamie, Derek, Amanda, Brenton , Haley, Joel and Tim.
Miracle of miracles, at the age of 86,I was given a bonus by the births of my children's children... great grandchildren, Abigail and Parker.
It seems like it was only yesterday, that as a POW, I was faced four times with execution, once in Hell University and three times thereafter... Oh, Father in Heaven, How great you are.
The Long March Marches Into The VA
Most of us made it back okay. But there were others we called the "Walking Dead" and The Long March came home with them. Although Tojo had been hung, his curse followed these men who, though still alive, were beyond being saved by modern medicine. Many died because of the ignorance of doctors in and outside the VA. They lasted only a few years. The "Death March" ended but the Long March continued.
Tojo also cursed POWs in another serious way. There were no medical records of what had happened to them while they were prisoners. When I went to the VA for help, the VA told me that without medical records signed by an American military doctor, they had no way to prove the accuracy of my statements about what I had experienced.
But the VA told me if I could get a buddy's letter to help prove my statements, the VA would consider it. Having no idea where my buddies were or if they were alive, I asked the VA clerk if he had a list of returned POWs. He told me he did, but it was against regulations to give out any information without the person's permission.
I was faced with a hopeless puzzle. He asked, in a sarcastic manner, "Why should the VA treat you POWs of the Japanese any different than any other veteran?" Several years after the Vietnam War the VA realized the POWs of the Japanese exhibited many of the same symptoms as the Vietnam Veterans. The condition was known as Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD).
In 1983 all former POWs were called into the VA for examination and study. The VA announced they could not find 57,000 ex-POWS. I smiled. Evidently, I was not the only POW that walked away in anger and dismay. To help the VA, our EX-POW groups gave our list of names, without questions.
The study resulted in many of the POWs going from a status of ten percent disability to seventy percent disability, and some to 100 percent disability status overnight for chronic post-traumatic stress syndrome. After this study, many VA doctors stated that the Japanese POWs were 100% disabled when they walked out of prison camp. The POWs had to suffer for thirty-seven years before the VA recognized our most serious malady.
Today, as an old man, when I walk into the VA clinic in Marquette, Michigan, the young VA personnel treat me with the greatest respect. They know that I'm the only POW still alive in Michigan's Upper Peninsula.
I still after all these years, I still suffer one major agonizing nightmare. I'm back at Camp #1, Cabanatuan. It is night. I am out on the farm; I don't know how I got there. The perimeter lights highlight the barb wire fence around the camp, and I can see the guard tower and the guards in the tower.
I have two decisions to make. I can go back to the camp gate to get back in and I will be put to death for trying to escape. Or, I can try to escape to the jungle and freedom and be haunted for the rest of my life that nine of my buddies died so I could be free. Thank God I always finally wake up, with my body ringing wet with perspiration. I haven't had that dream for about a year.
The Ex-POWS Fight For The Promises Made By The Congress And The White House, Years Ago
Originally, in 1951, a peace treaty between the Allies and Japan was completed. However, the International Legal Committee agreed the treaty was flawed. It did not contain the Geneva Convention clause dealing with the proper treatment of POWs.
Practically in secret, President Truman and the Senate agreed, for what they felt was good reason, to not include the clause.
"In fact it was in large part the enormity of these wrongs that led President Truman and the Senate to conclude that to require Japan to make full compensation to all its victims would have prevented Japan's emergence as a stable democratic nation and sown the seeds of future conflict."
This act prohibited the POWs from ever being compensated for the crimes committed against them by the Japanese government. In truth, the POWs were sacrificed for the Japanese economy.
To correct this injustice, the Allies agreed each nation would take the responsibility to compensate their POWs in lieu of Japan. Henry Cabot Lodge said, "America will take care of its own."
The amount of money that the Allies agreed was sufficient was $20,000 per POW. At that time $20,000 would buy a completely furnished three-bedroom brick home, including a Hammond organ. In the garage would be a new Buick Roadmaster. There would still be a tidy sum of money left to put in the bank. Today, $20,000 won't buy the Buick.
Because of the increase in the inflation rate since 1951, it takes almost $200,000 to buy what you could buy with $20,000 in 1951.
From the Japanese frozen assets in each Allied country, their POWs did receive an average of $2,700 for rations and slave labor. This in no way compensated their POWs for the brutality performed against them.
Little did the POWs know that the government had deliberately inserted a provision in the treaty, which waived all reparation claims against Japan and its nationals. The Cold War was underway and a hot war was raging on the Korean Peninsula. U.S. foreign policy sought to hold Japan as a bulwark against Communist encroachment in Asia from both China and Russia.
Japan agreed to ally with the United States in exchange for a "soft" peace treaty. Since that time Washington has sided with Tokyo and Japanese firms whenever they have been named defendants in reparation suits.
In 1988, the U.S. government passed the bill Public Law 100-383 calling for compensation to Japanese-American civilians interned by the American government during WWII. The specific purposes of this bill were as follows: to acknowledge the injustice, apologize on the behalf of the U.S., provide funds for public education to prevent a recurrence, make restitution to those interred, discourage the occurrences of similar injustices, and make more credible and sincere any declaration of concern by the United States over violations of human rights committed by other nations. $20,000 was paid to each internee.
To this date, the Japanese government has not apologized for the cruel treatment we received as prisoners of war and the U.S. government has not apologized for the humiliation dealt to us by our own when we were repatriated. They continually refused to honor the agreement of compensation to their POWs held in other countries according to the 1951 treaty.
In the 1990's through 2001 the Allies, Great Britain, Australia & New Zealand, Norway, Canada, Holland, with the exception of the United States, paid their POWs an average of $25,000. England said, "We did it as a matter of Honor." Now in 2006, South Korea has even paid Koreans who were Japanese POWs and enslaved in Japan.
In the U.S. in 1999, the American POWs began to ask the Congress to fulfill the promises of compensation made 48 years previously in 1951 by Senator Henry Cabot Lodge. In 2000, bills were introduced into the Congress to do so. I have been informed by a reliable source that the State Department told the Conference Committee that the POWs had already been paid. The amount was based on the WAR Claims Office using Japanese frozen funds. The amount was calculated on $2.50 per day for every day interred. The allies did the same. Unfortunately for us, the State Department failed to mention the amount determined in the 1951 treaty, which was to be $20,000 per person. With that inaccurate information, the Conference Committee trashed the POW bill. From 2000 through 2004, because of the State Department's veiled interference, the Conference Committee has continued to trash the POWs' bills for slave labor compensation.
In 2000 there were less than 3,000 registered Japanese ex-POWs still alive. Since then, more than half of them have died. At this writing, at an average age of 87, only 1,366 of the original 16,000 POWs survive. This according to the mailing records of the American Ex-Prisoners of war. The number of widows is unknown.
The question is, in 2006, will Condoleezza Rice of the State Department choose to honor the men and their widows? Is it possible she will work to give the handful of valiant USAFFE survivors what was promised them?
The Navy and Marine POW personnel have yet to receive all their back promotion pay. In 2001 Senator John McCain discovered that the Navy and Marine POWs from WWII had not received all their back promotion pay accrued while they were prisoners. Congress only approved their pay in 1942 dollars, instead of current dollars. The calculation of pay should have increased due to inflation that occurred between 1942 and 2003.
Representative Darlene Hooley of Oregon introduced a companion bill to McCain's Senate bill to overcome this lack of fairness. Currently Senator McCain's bill has expired but Representative Hooley's bill is still alive. The defense department has stalled the bill since May 2005. Imagine, after sixty years the Navy and Marine POWs are still waiting to be fully compensated for their back pay.
In April 2006 Congress has just begun to act again on our behalf. Representative Duncan Hunter has just introduced a new bill, HR 5122, intended to help only the survivors of Bataan and Corregidor. This is cruel, excluding the rest of the United States Armed Forces, Far East. They were slaves of Japan, also. As such, they are entitled to what the Congress and the White house promised us so long ago.
Edward Jackfert, past Commander of the American Defenders of Bataan and Corregidor, Inc. said "We would like our government to award us our due compensation following suit with what the other honorable Allied countries of Canada, Great Britain, the Isle of Man, the Netherlands, Norway, New Zealand, and Australia awarded their former prisoners of war for the severe mistreatment given them by the Japanese military during World War II."
These nations concluded that Japan would not compensate these former prisoners of war; therefore, it was a "debt of honor" for the "unique circumstances" of their prisoner of war internment to compensate these veterans. The legislative bodies of each of these nations overwhelmingly approved the compensation legislation.
We would like the United States to do no less than these Allied countries. We want the U.S. Congress to take on this debt of honor now, this year, before many more of us have passed into oblivion.
In addition, these former prisoners of war would have our nation intercede with Japan in having that nation formally apologize through its legislative bodies for the suffering and mistreatment of American prisoners of war.
In Honor Of Frank Bigelow
Frank Bigelow, a past Commander of ADBC, Inc., is dead. He fought for years for the rights that had been denied us, to no avail. Frank fought on Corregidor and became a slave in a condemned Japanese coal mine in Omuta, Japan. In 1944, Frank was trapped in a coal mine accident. To save his life, they cut off his leg below the knee with a razor blade and a hacksaw, without anesthesia. In 2003, Frank finished his personal Long March and passed away into Oblivion, unredeemed, and in humiliation.
To the Friends of American Defenders of Bataan and Corregidor: I would like to thank those of the U.S. Congress who have helped to fight for our cause: The offices of Senators Bingaman, Feinstein, Hatch, Inouye, McCain and Representatives Hooley and Hunter.
To my dear friends, Edward Jackfert, past Commander of the ADBC Inc. and Colonel Robert Bonodio, USMCRet, I am in deep gratitude for all the years of their time, support and dedication to help me in the cause of the surviving Valiant USAFFE. I thank you.
To the those whose editing made this story flow: Jan Newlove, Sue kensington, Mary Fran Ernsburger, Diana Charles and Patricia Ryan O'Day. I Love You.
To the Japanese who took risks to help me, I thank you.
To the Japanese who hurt me, I forgive you.
Donald D. Rutter, U.S. Navy
A quest of Emperor Hirohito for One Thousand Three Hundred and Forty Four Days and Nights of unmitigated Hell.
ADDENDUM
6/15/03 

Dear Don,
I have had the opportunity to review a report prepared by the CONGRESSIONAL RESEARCH SERVICE of the LIBRARY OF CONGRESS titled U.S. PRISONERS OF WAR AND CIVILIAN AMERICAN CITIZENS CAPTURED AND INTERNED BY JAPAN IN WORLD WAR II: "The Issue of Compensation by Japan."
This report was prepared by Gary K.Reynolds, Information Research Specialist, and thoroughly supports the answers to questions which I have answered in the aforementioned questionnaire. The Congressional Research Report should be made available to all governmental bodies, the media, and other individuals who desire the truthful facts relating to the mistreatment of the former prisoners of war of the Japanese Military during World War II and overwhelmingly supports the need of a compensation award to "our Forgotten Heroes" by our government. The report has an Order Code of RL.30606 and can be easily obtained from the Library of Congress or through the CRS Web.
Edward Jackfert
Past Commander American Defenders of Bataan and Corregidor, Inc.
Appendix A: Humiliations
Mel Routt, a former Naval person, was a former Commander of the American Defenders of Bataan and Corregidor, Inc. (ADBC) and a former California state Vice-Commander of the American Ex-Prisoners of War Inc. He told the writer the restricted form, from the National Archives shown below, is exactly the form he was forced to sign when he was repatriated by the American Military. When he had signed it, they took the form, without giving him a copy. Frank Bigelow, also a former ADBC Commander, stated he also was forced to sign this form before he was allowed to continue home.
Appendix B
RESTRICTED CIN~PAO- {lINCPOA 5 September, 1945 Subject~: Publicity in Connection
withLiberated Prisoners of War 
l. In conformity with directive of the War Department Chief of Staff contained in dispatch WARX-59052 (031929) of 3 September 1945, which amends AG Letter 383.6 of 24 March 45, OB-S-B-M subject: Publicity Concerning Evaders, Escapers, and Prisoners of War, the following is published:

2. Released prisoners of war may release stories of their experiences after clearance with the theatre Bureau of Public Relations headquarters of War department Bureau of Public Relations with the
following exceptions:
 (a) There will not be published in any form whatsoever, or either directly or indirectly communicated to the press, radio or any person except representatives of the appropriate theatre intelligence section, as designated by theatre commanders or to American military attaches or to the AC of S-C2, WDOS any details or references concerning the following:
 (1) Unannounced organizations which have assisted evaders and escapers or methods used by these organizations.
 (2) Any means of identifying helpers, such as names, pictures, descriptions, etc.
 (3) Evasion and Escape equipment and special intelligence activities within the prison camps.

3. Commanding officers will be responsible for instructing all subject personnel in the provisions of this directive, and insuring that the attached certificate be executed.
SECURITY CERTlfICATE
            I certify that I have read and fully understand all the provisions of the Directive of the Secretary of War as is printed on this sheet, and will at ALL TIMES hereafter comply fully therewith.

            I understand that disclosure of secret military information to unauthorized persons will make liable to disciplinary action for failure to safeguard such information. I realize that it is my duty during my military service, and later as a civilian, to take all possible precautions to prevent disclosure, by word of mouth or otherwise, of military information of this nature.

Name(print)_________________Signed __________________
Rank_____________A.S.N. ______________Unit  ___________
Date____________             Witness________________________

R E S T R I C T E D
Appendix C
The form below is an exact copy of the restricted orders that were made part of the records of Army Air Corps personal as soon as they were repatriated. (These exact copies are from the military records. Oscar L. Leonard still has in his possession. Mr. Leonard was a Sergeant when captured.)
RESTRICTED
GENERAL HEADQUARTERS
UNITED STATES ARMY FOCES, PACIFIC
APO 500
 CIRCULAR )15 July 1945
  NO....23 )
PUBLICITY IN CONNECTION WITH ESCAPED, LIBERATED, OR REPATRIATED
PRISONERS OF WAR TO INCLUDE EVADERS OF CAPTURE IN ENEMY OR ENEMY
OCCUPIED TERRITORY AND INTERNEES IN NEUTRAL COUNTRIES
1 Publication or communication to any unauthorized persons of experiences of escape, release or evasion from enemy or enemy occupied territory, activities or equipment in connection therewith, internment
in a neutral country, or release from internment, furnishes useful information to the enemy jeopardizes future escapes, evasions and releases, under Army Regulations, must not be disclosed to anyone except to military officials specifically designated.
2 a. Personnel who have evaded, escaped, or have been released from LIBERATED AREAS may relate stories of their experiences, after clearance with Public Relations Officer, this headquarters, or Nar
Department Bureau of Public relations, but no reference may be made as:
(1) Existence of unannounced organizations established to assist evader, escapers or to methods employed by the organization.
(2) Names, pictures, or any other means of identification of helpers of escapers or evaders.
(3) Treacherous actions of Allied Prisoners of War or evaders.
(4) Sabotage activities of Allied Prisoners of War whether escaped or detained.
(5) Briefings and equipment for evasion and escape, and other intelligence activities within the camps which constitutes intelligence information.
  b. All other personnel will not publish in any form whatever, or communicate either directly or indirectly to the press, radio, or any unauthorized person any account of escape, release, or evasion of capture from enemy or enemy-occupied territory or internment in a neutral country before or after repatriation, unless authorized by the
Assistant Chief of Staff G-2, WIGS.
3. Subject personnel shall not be interrogated on the circumstances of their experiences in escape, evasion, release or internment, except by authorized intelligence agencies. In allied or neutral countries,
American Military Attaches are authorized to interrogate on escape, evasion, release and internment matters.
4. Requests for the services of Subject personnel, deemed necessary for lecturing and briefing, will be cleared by the Chief of Counter-Intelligence, this headquarters. (CIR 23)
5. It will be the responsibility of the Chief of Counter-Intelligence, this headquarters, to insure the execution of the attached certificate by all personnel covered by the provisions of this circular.
6. Section I, USAFFE Circular 5B, 11 July 1944, is rescinded.

By command of General MacArthur:
R.K.SUTHERLAND,
Lieutenant General, Chief of Staff, United States Army

OFFICIAL - B.M. FITCH
Brigadier General, U.S. Army, Adjutant General, Certificate 1 Inc :
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Appendix D: Justice
Justice Department
U. S. Department of Justice
Civil Division
Assistant Attorney General    Washington, D.C. 20530
JUL 23 2004

Mr. Donald D. Rutter
Legislation Committee
American Defenders of Bataan and Corregidor, Inc.

Dear Mr. Rutter:

Thank you for your letter to President George W. Bush regarding American service members who were held by Japan as prisoners of war during World War II. Your letter was forwarded to the Department of Justice for response, and we apologize for any inconvenience the delay may have caused. The men and women who fought for America against the forces of fascism during World War II have been described, with just cause, as "the Greatest Generation." Among them, no group suffered more in service to their country than those who were captured by the Japanese Army in the
Philippines, a great many of whom died as a consequence of the brutal treatment they received.

There have been many lawsuits arising out of the treatment by Japan and Japanese companies of our POWs. The United States has appeared in all of these suits to explain that those claims were barred by the 1951
Treaty of Peace between the allied Nations, including the United States, and Japan at the end of the war. Under the terms of the Treaty, the United States was allowed to confiscate Japanese assets in this country, some of which were used to provide payments to POWs for what they had endured. Neither the Treaty nor the United States' briefs in these lawsuits was intended in any way to diminish the POWs' suffering or the outrageousness of their captors' conduct. In fact, it was in large part the enormity of these wrongs that led President Truman and the Senate to conclude that requiring Japan MAKE FULL COMPENSATION to all its victims would have prevented Japan's emergence as a stable democratically and sown the seeds of further conflict.

My immediate predecessor in office, Robert D. McCallum, had the opportunity to testify before a subcommittee of the House of Representatives regarding this issue. As Mr. McCallum stated, if Congress determines that it is appropriate to provide additional recognition for these heroes in a manner that is consistent with our treaty obligations and constitutional principles, the Department of Justice stands ready to work with Congress on such a proposal. I appreciate your inquiry and hope that this letter helps to clarify the United States' position with respect to this matter.

Sincerely,
Peter D. Keisler Assistant Attorney General
cc: The Honorable Duncan Hunter U.S. House of Representatives

Appendix E: Public Law 100-383
Public Law 100-383 (1988)
Congress Apologies for the Relocation of Japanese-Americans in WWII
SECTION 1. PURPOSES.

The purposes of this Act are to:

(1) acknowledge the fundamental injustice of the evacuation, relocation, and internment of United States citizens and permanent resident aliens of Japanese ancestry during World War II;

(2) apologize on behalf of the people of the United States for the evacuation, relocation, and internment of such citizens and permanent resident aliens;

(3) provide for a public education fund to finance efforts to inform the public about the internment of such individuals so as to prevent the recurrence of any similar event;

(4) make restitution to those individuals of Japanese ancestry who were interned; ...

(6) discourage the occurrence of similar injustices and violations of civil liberties in the future; and

(7) make more credible and sincere any declaration of concern by the United States over violations of human rights committed by other nations.

SEC. 2. STATEMENT OF THE CONGRESS.

(a) WITH REGARD TO INDIVIDUALS OF JAPANESE ANCESTRY. The Congress recognizes that, as described by the Commission on Wartime Relocation and Internment of Civilians, a grave injustice was done to both citizens and permanent resident aliens of Japanese ancestry by the evacuation, relocation, and internment of civilians during World War II. As the Commission documents, these actions were carried out without adequate security reasons and without any acts of espionage or sabotage documented by the Commission, and were motivated largely by racial prejudice, wartime hysteria, and a failure of political leadership. The excluded individuals of Japanese ancestry suffered enormous damages, both material and intangible, and there were incalculable losses in education and job training, all of which resulted in significant human suffering for which appropriate compensation has not been made.

For these fundamental violations of the basic civil liberties and constitutional rights of these individuals of Japanese ancestry, the Congress apologizes on behalf of our nation...

Copyright © 2006
Written by Donald Douglas Rutter
Some of the Photos used are from the Library of Congress

Credit: used by permission from Don Rutter


Donald’s Obituary
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MARQUETTE, MI - We lost our family hero on October 12, 2016. Reunited at last with his wife, Elaine, we can feel his joy from here. 

Donald Douglas Rutter was born February 23, 1919 in Detroit, MI, to Donald and Janet (Smith) Rutter. A child of the Great Depression, he dropped out of school in the 11th grade and joined the Civilian Conservation Corp (CCC) to help support his mother and younger sister. Don enlisted in the US Navy in 1940 and was a radioman in Manilla when Japan conquered the island. He turned himself in to the Japanese to protect the lives of a family who hid him in their home, and thus began four years as a prisoner of war. In 1944 he and 1,000 other POWs were transported to Japan in the hold of a freight ship as slave laborers for a coal mine in Omuta. His release came after the atomic bomb hit Nagasaki, 39 miles from the mine.

Liberated in September of 1945, he returned home to find that his brother had been killed at Normandy. He also found the love of his life waiting for him. Don married Elaine (Dolly) Aho on Christmas Day, 1945 in Marquette at Messiah Lutheran Church. Together, they raised three children: Suzanne Kensington (Dick Huey), and Jan Newlove of Marquette; Roger Rutter (Joy) of Center Ossipee, NH. 

Music was the cornerstone of their lives and oh, boy, could they dance. Consoling him upon Elaine’s death in 2000, we acknowledged that it must be the worst day of his life. “No,” he said. “That day was in 1941. Every day since then has been a gift.”

Don spent many years writing stories for a book about his wartime experience and, thanks to the assistance of his daughter Jan and bonus daughter Mary Fran Ernsberger, some of those stories were gathered together in a paper titled The Long March Into Oblivion: An American Machiavellian Tragedy and U.S. Government Disgrace. He dedicated it “to the men who couldn't tell their stories and no longer can.” (Google “Don Rutter” on the Internet – you will find his website.)

He was a gifted salesman and a member of the Kellogg Company team in California when Tony the Tiger was created. A talented singer and showman, he performed with retired big-band musicians in Florida. In his early 80's he wowed the karaoke crowds in several locations in Marquette.

An environmentalist and recycler long before it was cool, Don--known as The Mucksucker--dredged Long Lake near Pontiac, the first lake ever to be done in Michigan. He was also well known for making do with what he had, often building, repairing and modifying with only cardboard, adhesive tape, and Elmer’s glue.

Don Rutter was a man of faith, who respected the faith of others. He displayed a Cross, a Star of David, and an Ankh in his home. He also made a large poster that he hung in his office. It contained only two words: Just Try. And he did. Every single day of his life.

Don is survived by his children; grandchildren: Andrew Gregg and Jamie (Mac) Strand of Marquette; Derek (Teresa) Wilson and Martina (Jamie) Easley of Pataskala, OH; Amanda (Ryan) Sharpe of Hampton, NH; Hayley Rutter of Ossipee, NH. Great-grandchildren: Mackenzie Wilson; Parker, Connor and Tanner Easley; Abbigail, Kaiden and Greyson Sharpe. And several nieces and nephews. He was preceded in death by his wife; parents; brother Roger; sisters Patricia, Hattie and Ladonna; bonus son Les Ernsberger, and beloved grandson Brenton Rutter.
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